COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

GEORGE THOMAS STRANGE,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

George Thomas Strange asks this court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of each and every part of the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the Cowlitz County Superior Court judgment and sentence. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached, along with the Court of Appeals Order Granting Motion to Publish Opinion.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In a jury trial on a charge of child molestation, do the individual statements of almost one-third of an entire venire in front of an entire venire outlining their personal experiences as the victims or the family members of the victims of child molestation taint the remainder of the venire sufficiently to deny the defendant a fair and impartial jury under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2009 the defendant George Thomas Strange married Melissa Mullins and they later moved into the defendant's house in Kelso along with Melissa's children JM and AM. RP 274-276. At the time JM was 9-years-old and AM was 3-years-old. RP 277-279. Later Melissa's oldest son CM moved in with them also. *Id.* Each one of the children had their own room in the house. *Id.* During this period of time Melissa was unemployed but spent a lot of time out of the house doing volunteer work with Habitat for

Humanity through Americorps. RP 274-276. She later purchased and ran a small restaurant called "the Brits," where JM worked part time, along with one of Melissa's employees by the name of Jonathan Layman. RP 281-283.

According to JM, one evening when she was around 12-years-old the defendant came into her bedroom while she was laying on her back on her bed wearing a tank top and shorts. RP 225-227. At the time her mother was out of the house and her brothers were in their bedrooms. *Id.* When the defendant came in to tuck her into bed for the night he asked if he could show her how to perform a breast self-exam. *Id.* When he did he mentioned the word cancer. *Id.* In fact that defendant had attended one quarter at nursing school. RP 316-318. JM later reported that after stating this he pulled up her top and showed her how to do the exam, explaining that you were trying to feel for lumps. RP 225-229. He was pushing hard enough to "feel the inside" but it didn't hurt. RP 227-229. He did not touch her nipples and did not rub her breasts with his open hand. RP 227-229, 251-254. He then told her to not tell her mother what he had done because she would get mad. *Id.*

On another occasion JM remembered the defendant coming into her bedroom when she was asleep, pulling out her pants and underwear at the waist and looking down at her vaginal area. RP 231-234. JM also reported that the defendant would occasionally give her back rubs. RP 241-242. On one of these occasions he rubbed her butt. *Id.* He would also give her hugs,

kiss her on the cheek, and sometimes kiss her on the lips, which she did not like. RP 235, 238-239.

Eventually JM told one of her friends at school what was happening. RP 321-326. She also told Jonathan one evening when they were working together. RP 244-247, 327-338. When Jonathan asked whether or not she had told her mother, she replied that she had not because she did not want to ruin her mother's relationship with yet another man. RP 332-335. However, Jonathan was successful in getting her to talk to her mother. RP 336-337. After this talk Melissa called the police to report her daughter's claims. RP 293-294. After reporting the incident to the police Melissa took her children and moved out of the defendant's home. RP 294-295. The police then began an investigation by interviewing JM, her mother and siblings, Jonathan, and JM's school friend with whom she had confided. RP 353-354.

Eventually the detective in charge of the investigation called the defendant and asked if he would come to the police station for an interview. RP 354-356. The defendant agreed. *Id.* The interview lasted about one hour and was recorded on videotape with the defendant's consent. *Id.* While the defendant admitted that he had shown JM how to perform a breast examination on herself, he denied touching anything other than the side of her breasts, and he repeatedly denied that he had any sexual intent. RP 362-418. He also admitted that he had given JM back rubs but denied that he had ever

intentionally touched her buttocks while doing so. RP 371, 375. Finally, he denied ever pulling out JM's clothing to look at her. RP 373.

By information filed May 15, 2013, the Cowlitz County Prosecutor charged the defendant George Thomas Strange with one count of Second Degree Child Molestation (DV) and one count of Voyeurism (DV). CP 1-2. Five months after the filing of the information the case was called for trial before a jury. RP 4. After a few preliminary motions, the court called in a 56 member jury venire and put them under oath. RP 18-19. The court then began the *voir dire* process by asking the venire members a number of general questions, including the following:

I'm – I'm interested in knowing if any of you have any personal experience with a similar type of case or incident. This is an allegation of child molestation and also voyeurism. So, I'm just curious if any of you have any personal experience with that, either as somebody who has been victimized, somebody who has been a witness to that or somebody who has been accused of that or if you have family members who have experienced – experienced that or have been a witness to that or if they – if they have been accused. So, – okay. We've got a few hands. And, again here, I'll – I'll give that disclaimer that if anybody is interested in sharing that information in a more private setting that's an option that we can make available to you and just let us know.

RP 27-29.

At this point 17 venire members, almost a third of the entire group, related, in front of the whole panel, how they either could not or probably could not be fair given the charges against the defendant and their experiences involving child molestation. RP 20-72. The following lists

those juror's and summarizes their comments before the other venire members.

- 1. <u>Heath</u>: father was convicted of molesting a family member, RP 29-30;
- 2. <u>Tolan</u>: ex-husband convicted of molesting a neighbor girl who was visiting their daughter, RP 30-31;
- 3. <u>Holt</u>: uncle and husband's cousin both convicted of child molestation, RP 32;
 - 4. Donaldson: neighbor convicted of similar crimes, RP 33;
- 5. <u>Green</u>: "My ex-son-in-law was charged with molesting my granddaughter... there was a resolution... it resulted in a slap on the hand... a couple of months ago." RP 33-34;
- 6. <u>Van Sant</u>: granddaughter was molested four years ago and "he was let go" becuase there was "not enough investigation." RP 35-36;
- 7. <u>Parkhurst</u>: brother-in-law, ex-husband's cousin and numerous neighbors convicted of similar crimes, RP 36-37;
- 8. Ostrander: "we have had a family member who has had experience with this" will only elaborate in private, CP 37-38;
 - 9. Erickson: his wife was molested as a child, CP 38;
- 10. <u>Searing</u>: served on a jury and convicted a person of similar charges but the conviction was reversed on appeal, CP 39;
- 11. <u>Perkins</u>: "I've know multiple victims, some close, in my lifetime," CP 39-40;
- 12. <u>Kunz</u>: "I'm having a really hard time being here because of personal history and family history," (Juror begins to cry), CP 40;
- 13. <u>Riley</u>: adopted sibling molested and it caused "a pretty significant impact;" he is an elementary school principal and sees the results of molestation on the victims, CP 40-41;

- 14. <u>Peroni</u>: "My son was a victim . . and I really am not going to be able to listen to the evidence . . I'm not going to be able to listen to it." CP 41-42;
- 15. <u>Gragg</u>: couple of very close friends molested and the perpetrator was not punished, RP 42-43;
- 16. <u>Rushmer</u>: mentors a girl at church who is a victim of molestation. Charges are pending and she wants to help the girl in court, RP 43-44;
- 17. <u>Bolles</u>: "my niece and my daughter were both sexually molested by an adult" and the perpetrator got off "Scot free" and now his daughter has to "live with the consequences." CP 71.

The majority of these venire members stated that they either could not be fair or probably could not be fair. RP 29-71. One of these venire members then stated the following to the court in front of the entire venire;

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. Mr. Gragg?

JUROR: Um – what I said before, like, I know people that I know. Like it's not an easy accusation to make. Like, it is hard for people (inaudible). It's like if accusations were made there's something behind that.

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. So, let me ask you this, Mr. Gragg, I mentioned this earlier that – we talked about the presumption of innocence. That a person that's charged with a crime is – is presumed innocent and that presumption continues throughout the entire trial. Is that something that you think you could use and implement that – that presumption of innocence throughout the entire trial starting now going forward?

JUROR: I don't – like, I don't have a ton of experience but it has just been my experience people don't make that accusation, you know, for no reason. Like, I feel like if an accusation was made there had to be something that had happened.

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. All right. Thank you.

At this point the court excused the venire from the court room and began individual examination of venire members who had requested it. RP 90-99. The court then called the venire back into the courtroom and allowed the state to question the panel. RP 100-128. During this questioning a number of statements were made in front of the entire panel similar to the statements during the general questioning by the court. *Id.* These statements included: (1) "I'm not going to be able to listen to this," (2) It's going to bring back memories of what happened to my son," (3) "it did happen," (4) "I can't hear any of this," (5) "it's not something I want to hear about," (6) "hard time hearing these charges," and (6) "I have to deal with the consequences of it." RP 100-127.

Once the jury was selected and sworn, the state presented its case by calling eight witnesses, including JM, her brother, her mother, her friend, Jonathan Layman and Cowlitz County Sheriff's Detective Todd McDaniel, who had investigated the case. CP 218, 264, 274, 314, 321, 327, 339, 349. Following the close of the state's case the defense rested without putting on any witnesses. RP 429. The court then instructed the jury without objection from either party. RP 429, 430-448. At this point the jury listened to closing

¹At this point the court asked if the venire member was having problems hearing. The Bailiff then explained that she was refusing to listen.

arguments and retired for deliberation, eventually returning verdicts of "guilty" on both counts. RP 448-480, 485-489; CP 42-44. About five weeks after the verdicts the court imposed sentences within the standard ranges, after which the defendant filed timely notice of appeal. CP 46-60, 64.

On appeal, the defendant argued, *inter alia*, that he had been denied a fair and impartial jury when the court allowed almost one-third of the entire venire to express in front of the entire venire the reasons why they could not be fair and impartial given the fact of the charges. *See* Brief of Appellant. By unpublished decision filed June 23, 2015, Division II of the Court of Appeals affirmed. *See* opinion attached The court thereafter granted the defendant's motion to publish. *See* Order Granting Motion to Publish Opinion attached.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The case at bar presents this court with two separate bases for review: (1) under RAP 13.4(b)(3), this case presents a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington; and (2) under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this case presents a question of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court. The following sets out the arguments in support of these claims.

In this case the defendant appealed his convictions for one count of Second Degree Child Molestation (DV) and one count of Voyeurism (DV)

arguing in part that the statements of numerous prospective jurors in front of an entire venire outlining their personal experiences as the victims or the family members of the victims of child molestation tainted the remainder of the venire sufficiently to deny the defendant a fair and impartial jury under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment. In support of this argument the defendant cited to the decision in *Mach v. Stewart*, 137 F.3d 630 (9th Cir. 1997), in which the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that statements of one venire member during jury selection in front of the whole panel concerning the veracity of child witnesses alleging sexual abuse was potentially sufficient to taint the entire panel. Thus, the court held that the trial court should have either granted the defendant's motion for a mistrial or at least conducted further *voir dire* to determine if the panel had been tainted.

The distinction between *Mach* and the case at bar as found by the Court of Appeals was that the venire member in the Ninth Circuit case had claimed a special expertise in determining the veracity of child witnesses alleging sexual abuse whereas none of the venire members in the case at bar had made any such claim. The defendant argued that *Mach* should none the less control in this case because nearly one-third of the panel in this case revealed severe negative personnel experiences with child sexual abuse. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument and found the distinction controlling.

("Because Mach is factually distinguishable, we conclude that Mach does not

control the outcome here.")

The primary problem with the Court of Appeals' decision in this case is

that it fails to establish any standard or guidelines for determining just what

types of statements made during voir dire will potentially be sufficient to

taint an entire jury venire. In addition, there do not appear to be any

Washington cases addressing this issue. Indeed, the reason that appellant

cited Mach, a Ninth Circuit case, and that the Court of Appeals did not cite

to any Washington cases, is that there does not appear to be any Washington

case law on this issue as it relates to child sex cases. Thus, this case gives

this court the opportunity under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to address a significant

question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington. It also

gives this court the opportunity under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to address a question

of substantial public interest.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out in this motion, this court should accept review of

this case and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal.