I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT 

The State of Washington, by and through the Cowlitz County 

Prosecuting Attorney's Office, respectfully requests this Court deny review 

ofthe July 14, 2015, published opinion of the Court of Appeals in State v. 

Strange, COA No. 45607-9-Il. This decision upheld the Petitioner's 

convictions for Child Molestation in the second degree and Voyeurism. 

ll. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

The Court of Appeals properly held that the defendant received a 

fair trial by an impartial jury as the statements of potential jurors did not 

taint the entire panel. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged the Petitioner with one count of second degree 

child molestation and one count of voyeurism in May 2013. The case 

proceeded to trial on October 15, 2013. RP 1. The jury panel consisted of 

56 people. CP 12-16. When asked by the judge if any of the potential 

jurors had a personal experience with the charged crimes, either as a victim, 

witness, accused, or had family members as such, seventeen people raised 

their hands. RP 27-29. Most of these individuals did not have personal 

experience with the charges, but knew someone who was either a victim or 

had been charged with child molestation. For example, Juror #5 indicated . 



his father was convicted of a similar crime against a family member when 

#5 was around ten years old. RP 28-29, CP 12.1 He did not believe it would 

influence his consideration of the case. RP 29. 

Juror #13 then told the court her ex-husband was convicted of child 

molestation against a neighbor. RP 30, CP 12. While #13 thought it might 

be a factor in the case, she indicated she could apply the law to the facts. 

RP 31. Juror #15 stated that, although her uncle and husband's cousin were 

convicted of such charges, they would not influence her. RR 31-32, CP 13. 

Juror #16 knew his neighbor was convicted of similar charges, but state this 

would not pose a problem for him in sitting as a juror. RP 32-33, CP 13. 

Juror #21 had an ex-son-in-law charged with molesting his granddaughter 

a couple month prior to the trial. PR 33-34, CP 13. He said the result was 

"a slap on the hand,'' and that he could not be fair. RP 34. This juror was 

ultimately excused. RP 74, CP 13. 

Juror #25 indicated her !:,1fanddaughter was molested four years prior 

and the suspect was let go because of a lack of investigation. RP 35, CP 13. 

She initially expressed negative feelings about the result, but ultimately 

stated she could separate her own experience and be fair and impartial. RP 

138-39. 

1 The State means no disrespect by referring to the jurors as a number, but does so to 
protect the juror's identities given the subject matter at issue. 
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Juror #27 stated that even though his brother-in-law and cousin's 

ex-husband and multiple neighbors were convicted, he would not be 

influenced. RP 36--37. Juror #30 stated she had a family member involved, 

but wanted to speak in private. RP 37-38, CP 14. She was eventually 

excused. Juror #3 7 indicated he was close to multiple victims of abuse. RP 

39, CP 14. He did not believe these relationships would cause a problem in 

reaching a verdict. RP 39-40. Juror #43 stated his wife was molested as a 

child, but could be fair and impartial. RP 38, CP 15. Juror #45 stated he 

was on a previous jury involving the prosecutor that was later overturned, 

but he did not state what the charges were. RP 39, CP 15. 

Juror #4 7 expressed her difficulty in being present because of the 

personal history and family history and began to cry. RP 40, CP 15. No 

questions were asked of her, and she was later excused. RP 40. Juror #49 

then stated she had an adopted sibling with a history that had a significant 

impact on their life. RP 40-41, CP 15. Additionally, because she is an 

elementary school principal, she sees the results of abuse on victims. RP 

41. She thought she might be impaired. RP 41. 

Juror #52 indicated her son was a victim and she would not be able 

to listen to the evidence. RP 41-42, CP 16. Number 54 then stated two of 

his really close friends were victims and that he was not sure if this would 

affect his ability to sit as a juror. RP 42. He was later excused. Juror #32 
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stated she was currently mentoring a victim who was in the middle of a case. 

RP 43, CP 14. She was unsure ifthis would affect her ability to be impartial. 

RP44. 

Juror # 1, in response to a general question of impartiality, stated he 

had a natural bias against the accusations because he had two friends that 

were accused of similar crimes. RP 69-70, CP 12. Another juror concurred, 

explaining two family members were molested and the suspects got off 

"scot-free," and her daughter had to live with the repercussions. RP 70-71. 

Juror #54 then reiterated his earlier conversation with the court. RP 

72, CP 16. He stated, " .. .it's not an easy accusation to make. Like, it is 

hard for people (inaudible). It's like if accusation were made there's 

something behind that." RP 72. When the court reviewed the presumption 

of innocence and asked Juror #54 if he could follow it, he answered, "I don't 

-like, I don't have a ton of experience but it has just been my experience 

people don't make that accusation, you know, for no reason. Like, I feel 

like if an accusation was made there had to be something that had 

happened." RP 72. 

·During the State's voir dire, three jurors indicated they felt 

uncomfortable listening to the facts of such cases and worried they could 

not be fair. RP 119-125. The defendant also covered the topic of who did 

not feel comfortable listening to the evidence and deciding the case. RP 
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178 - 80. A couple potential jurors commented, but the majority did not 

indicate they would have a problem. RP 178 - 81. Defense counsel 

specifically asked the entire panel if they would base their decision on 

anything other than the testimony, exhibits, and the law. RP 181. Upon 

hearing they would only base their decision on the law and evidence, the 

defense attorney ended his voir dire. RP 182. 

On appeal, the defendant argued that he had been denied a fair and 

impartial jury because of prospective jurors' statements concerning their 

own prior experiences with child molestation, either in their families or 

among friends and acquaintances. His argument was that this case is 

factually similar to Mach v. Stewart, 13 7 P .3d 630 (9th Cir. 1997). The 

Court of Appeals disagreed and affirmed the convictions. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY HELD 
THAT THE DEFENDANT RECEIVED A FAIR 
TRIAL BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY AS THE 
STATEMENTS OF POTENTIAL JURORS DID NOT 
TAINT THE ENTIRE PANEL; THEREFORE, THE 
CONVICTIONS SHOULD BE UPHELD AND THE 
PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE 
GRANTED. 

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will only be accepted 

by the Supreme Court only if one of four conditions are met: (1) If the 

decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the 
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Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 

with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a 

significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of 

Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition 

involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined 

by the Supreme Court. Neither in the petition for review nor in the decision 

from the Court of Appeals are there any issues that would fall under one of 

the four conditions as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). The Division II Court of 

Appeals holding in this case is not in conflict with any decisions either the 

Washington Supreme Court or another division of the Court Appeals. The 

holding also does not raise a significant question oflaw or involve an issue 

of substantial public interest. 

1. A significant question of law is not involved in this 
case. 

As the Court of Appeals mentioned, the Petitioner's sole argument 

on this issue on appeal was that this case is factually similar to Mach v. 

Stewart, 13 7 F .3d 630 (9th Cir. 1997). In fact, this case is distinguishable 

from Mach in a number of ways discussed in the opinion of the Court of 

Appeals. Because the only issue is whether the set of facts presented in this 

case match up with the facts of another case, there is no significant question 

of law. 
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That there is little or no Washington case law on this issue does not 

create a significant question of law under the United State Constitution or 

the Washington Constitution. This Court should not grant review simply 

because there are not many cases on an issue; rather the case must raise a 

significant question under the Constitution. This case does not raise such a 

question. 

2. There is Ito question of substantial public interest 
in this case. 

That there is little or no Washington case law on this issue also does 

not create an issue of substantial public interest. Similarly, the fact that the 

Court of Appeals did not create a bright-line rule about which statements 

would taint a jury and which would not does not create an issue of 

substantial public interest. This is especially true given the fact that the 

issue before the CoUii of Appeals involved the factual similarities between 

this case and Mach v. Stewart. It was a narrow issue that the Court of 

Appeals ruled on correctly, not a pressing issue of substantial public 

interest. 
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V. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, Petitioner's petition for discretionary 

review should be denied.